IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * * *

FCH1, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY F/K/A FIESTA PALMS, LLC, D/B/A THE PALMS CASINO RESORT, Electronically Filed Aug 14 2012 03:22 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

No. 59630

ENRIQUE RODRIGUEZ, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT AFTER BENCH TRIAL EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA HONORABLE JESSIE WALSH, DISTRICT JUDGE

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ROBERT L. EISENBERG (Bar No. 0950) Lemons, Grundy & Eisenberg 6005 Plumas Street, Third Floor Reno, Nevada 89519

Phone: 775-786-6868 Email: <u>rle@lge.net</u>

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * * *

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

On February 15, 2012, the district court entered an "Amended Judgment On The Verdict" (6 App. 1279). Fiesta Palms believes this is the final judgment, which is appealable. NRAP 3A(b)(1). The appeal was timely because no written notice of entry was served; in any event, the notice of appeal was filed within 30 days after entry of the Amended Judgment. 6 App. 1282. The Palms previously filed a notice of appeal from an order denying a motion for new trial. 6 App. 1225-26. The order was appealable [NRAP 3A(b)(2)]; the appeal was timely, because it was filed on November 4, 2011 [6 App. 1225], which was within 30 days after notice of entry.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether there was sufficient evidence and an appropriate legal basis to support the judge's decision on liability.
- 2. Whether the district court erred by allowing four treating physicians to render expert opinions at trial, over objection, far beyond the scope of their treatment, when their opinions had not been previously disclosed to defense counsel; and whether the district court erred by allowing these same doctors to speculate regarding the opinions of other doctors who did not testify.
- 3. Whether the district court erred by admitting testimony of plaintiff's economist, who speculated and had no foundation for his testimony.
- 4. Whether the district court erred by striking the testimony of two defense experts.

STATEMENT OF CASE

Respondent Enrique Rodriguez (plaintiff) filed a complaint alleging that he was injured on November 22, 2004, while watching a televised football game at the sports book at the Palms in Las Vegas. 1 App. 3-4. He alleged that a "Palms Girl" tossed a promotional souvenir item to the crowd at half time; another customer dove

for the souvenir and bumped into plaintiff's left knee; and plaintiff was injured as a result of the incident. 1 App. 3-4.

Judge Jessie Walsh held a bench trial in 2010. She granted plaintiff's motion for judgment as a matter of law (JMOL) on liability; and the judge issued a "verdict" awarding damages totaling \$6,051,589. 2 App. 265-68a (JMOL), 273-74 (verdict). After various post-trial motions, the judge eventually entered a final judgment in the amount of \$6,627,763, including prejudgment interest and recoverable costs. 6 App. 1279-81. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 22, 2004, plaintiff and his wife were staying at Harrah's hotel in Las Vegas. 8 App. 1459. Plaintiff left his wife at Harrah's, and he went to the sports book at the Palms to watch a Monday Night Football game. 8 App. 1461-62. When he arrived at the sports book, he saw women dressed as cheerleaders, whom he believed to be Palms employees, tossing souvenirs to the audience, such as t-shirts, souvenir footballs and water bottles. 8 App. 1464-66. When the cheerleaders threw items to the audience, plaintiff could see people jumping, putting their hands in the air, moving, and "going wherever items went." 8 App. 1467. Plaintiff stood at an entrance to the sports book watching the televised football game for more than an hour as the cheerleaders occasionally threw souvenirs to the audience. 8 App. 1465-66. He saw cheerleaders throw souvenirs to the audience at least six times, and he did not think this was a dangerous activity. 8 App. 1465-66, 1534. If he had thought it was dangerous, he would have left the premises. *Id*.

The water bottle souvenirs were light-weight empty plastic bottles, not bottles full of water. 8 App. 1529.

While plaintiff was standing near the sports bar entrance observing the evening's activities, an empty bottle landed on the floor nearby. 8 App. 1468, 1535. Another patron suddenly leaped out of her chair, turned around, and ran toward where plaintiff was standing. 8 App. 1468. She took "a total dive, body dive," apparently attempting to retrieve the souvenir, and she bumped into plaintiff's knee. *Id.* Plaintiff testified that the female customer's action was "absolutely" very unusual. 8 App. 1534. Plaintiff did not know the other patron was going to react in that manner, and it did not appear that anybody else knew she was going to do that. 8 App. 1534. Plaintiff testified:

Q Right. So, someone tossed a water bottle. It landed on the floor. It was already on the floor. And after it landed on the floor, this woman that you hadn't noticed before, got out of her chair and ran over and jumped for the water bottle, right?

- A Correct.
- Q And a complete surprise to you?
- A Absolutely.
- Q And as best as you can tell, a complete surprise to everybody else who was there?
 - A Correct.
- Q She wasn't racing to get a water bottle that was flying through the air; was she?
 - A No.
 - Q Because the water bottle was already on the ground?
 - A Correct.

8 App. 1535.

The cheerleader who tossed the souvenir to the audience was Brandy Beavers, who was a defendant in this lawsuit, but who was defaulted when she did not answer. 3 App. 719:25. The patron who bumped into plaintiff's knee was never identified.

Plaintiff sued the Palms for negligence. 1 App. 1. After a 12-day bench trial, Judge Jesse Walsh granted plaintiff's motion for judgment as a matter of law on the issue of liability. 2 App. 265-68(a). Based upon testimony of two Palms employees, who expressed their personal opinions that promotional items should not be tossed to spectators at a sports book, the judge found liability against the Palms, as a matter of law. *Id.* The judge's finding of liability did not identify the theory or cause of action on which liability was imposed. In fact, the entire order, which was prepared by plaintiff's counsel, did not even mention the words "negligent" or "negligence." *Id.* A few days later, the judge entered a "verdict," awarding approximately \$6 million in damages. 2 App. 273-74.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The activity at the Palms -- tossing souvenirs to an audience -- is something that occurs virtually every day at sporting events and other entertainment venues around the country. Plaintiff observed this activity at least six times, for more than an hour at the Palms sports book, as he watched the football game and the cheerleaders. Nobody could have reasonably anticipated that another spectator would suddenly jump out of her chair, run toward a souvenir on the floor at plaintiff's feet, then "take a total dive, body dive" into plaintiff's knee. 8 App. 1468:11-12. Even plaintiff himself conceded, based on his personal observations, that the Palms' activity of tossing souvenirs to the audience was not dangerous, and that the other spectator's behavior was highly unusual and a complete surprise to everyone who was there. 8 App. 1535. There was insufficient evidence and no appropriate legal basis to support the judge's decision on liability -- a decision that, if affirmed, would detrimentally change entertainment at sporting and other events everywhere in this state.

Plaintiff disclosed dozens of medical providers before trial, identifying all of the doctors as "treating" doctors, and failing to provide any medical expert witness disclosures. The judge allowed plaintiff to use four of these doctors as witnesses at trial, to testify regarding opinions contained in all of the other doctors' records, and to express opinions far beyond opinions that were formed during the testifying doctors' treatment of plaintiff. These important medical opinions were never disclosed to the Palms before trial. This was contrary to Nevada discovery rules, resulting in severe prejudice to the defense. The district court also erred by allowing the testifying doctors to speculate as to what other non-testifying doctors would opine if the non-testifying doctors were provided with certain information.

The district court also erred by admitting speculative testimony of plaintiff's economist, who relied upon woefully inadequate information and back-dated tax returns prepared after the litigation was initiated (long after the tax years of the returns).

Two important defense experts expressed their opinions at trial, without objection. After they finished their testimony and were gone, plaintiff's counsel moved to strike their testimony because they did not use the phrase "reasonable degree of probability" in expressing their opinions. The judge erred by granting the motion and striking the testimony, because the use of such phrases by experts is not required.

ARGUMENT

A. No liability as a matter of law

Standard of review: In a negligence case, whether a duty exists is a question of law reviewed de novo. *Turner v. Mandalay Sports Entertainment*, 124 Nev. 213, 220-21, 180 P.3d 1172, 1177 (2008). Lack of liability, based upon undisputed facts, can also be determined de novo. <u>E.g. Turner, supra</u>; see *American Sterling Bank v.*

Johnny Management LV, Inc., 126 Nev. ___, 245 P.3d 535, 538 (2010) (when facts are undisputed, effect of application of facts and law is reviewed de novo).

1. Lack of negligence by the Palms

Negligence is the failure to use the care that a reasonable, prudent person would exercise under the same circumstances. *Sherburne v. Miller*, 94 Nev. 585, 590, 583 P.2d 1090, 1093 (1978) (Batjer, C.J., dissenting); *Driscoll v. Erreguible*, 87 Nev. 97, 101, 482 P.2d 291, 294 (1971) ("Negligence is failure to exercise that degree of care in a given situation which a reasonable man in similar circumstances would exercise.").

Here, the cheerleaders were not throwing dangerous objects, such as knives, to an unsuspecting crowd. They were merely tossing souvenirs to customers during a televised football game at a casino sports book. Plaintiff watched the cheerleaders toss souvenirs to the audience at least six times, for more than an hour. He could have easily left the Palms and gone back to his own hotel if he thought there was any danger. But he perceived no danger in the activities at the sports book.

Plaintiff never called an expert witness to testify that the activity at the Palms was dangerous or below the standard of care for hotel/casinos, or that it was reasonably foreseeable that another patron would leap to her feet and make a "total body dive" for a souvenir. In fact, plaintiff conceded that the other patron's conduct came as a complete surprise to him and everyone else.

The defense expert, Forrest Franklin, testified that tossing promotional items to an audience is a regularly-accepted and common occurrence at a wide variety of events, including sports, conventions and entertainment events.² There was no

²

The district court granted a motion to strike Franklin's opinion that the Palms did not violate the standard of care for such businesses. This ruling (continued)

evidence that any other spectator had ever been injured at the Palms sports bar--or, for that matter, at any other hotel/casino sports bar--as a result of tossing harmless souvenirs to patrons during a live or televised sporting event. 8 App. 1442:15-23.

This situation is similar to *Turner*, *supra*, where a spectator was hit by a foul ball as she sat in a baseball stadium's concession area. The spectator sued the stadium owner, contending that the owner was negligent by not placing a protective screen around the concession area. The district court granted summary judgment to the owner, and the plaintiff appealed. This court affirmed, holding that the stadium owner satisfied its duty to customers by providing protection in the most dangerous parts of the stadium (such as directly behind home plate), and providing some protected areas for other spectators. *Id.* at 217-18, 180 P.3d at 1175-76. Having done so, the owner "simply has no remaining duty to protect spectators from foul balls, which are a known, obvious, and unavoidable part of all baseball games." *Id.* The *Turner* court recognized that limiting a stadium owner's duty limits litigation, that might "signal the demise or substantial alteration of the game of baseball as a spectator sport." *Id.*

Applying the limited duty rule in *Turner*, the court noted that the plaintiff chose to sit in an unprotected seating area of the stadium, and that this area was not a dangerous area that posed "an unduly high risk of injury" from foul balls. *Id.* at 219, 180 P.3d at 1176. The court noted that foul balls occasionally flew into this area, but the risk of an occasional foul ball "does not amount to an unduly high risk of injury." *Id.* The court also noted that the plaintiff "has conspicuously failed to demonstrate

⁽continued) will be discussed below. Even if the district court did not err by striking Franklin's opinion, the undisputed fact remains that tossing promotional items to an audience is a common and accepted occurrence at a wide variety of events, including sports, conventions and entertainment events.

that any other spectator suffered injuries as a result of errant balls landing in the [area where plaintiff was seated]." *Id.* Thus, the stadium owner was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.³ *Id.*

In rejecting liability, *Turner* cited an A.L.R. annotation dealing with liability to spectators. 124 Nev. at 218, fn. 8, citing *James L. Rigelhaupt, Jr.*, Annotation, *Liability to Spectator at Baseball Game Who Is Hit by Ball or Injured as Result of Other Hazards of Game*, 91 A.L.R.3d 24 (1979) (electronically updated as of 2008). The annotation cited *Loughran v. The Phillies*, 888 A.2d 872 (Pa. Super. 2005), where an outfielder intentionally threw a baseball to fans after the last out of an inning. The ball hit the plaintiff's face, causing severe injuries. He sued the stadium owner for negligence. The trial court granted summary judgment for the defendant.

The *Loughran* court affirmed, applying the rule that there is no duty for injuries arising out of activities that are common, frequent or expected parts of the game of baseball. The real issue, however, was whether intentionally throwing a baseball to fans is a customary or expected part of the game. The court held that this <u>is</u> a customary part of the game. Determining what is a customary part of the game is not limited to the actual game itself. Instead, the court considered "the actual everyday goings on that occur both on and off the baseball diamond." *Id.* at 875. A court "must consider as 'customary' those activities that although not specifically sanctioned by baseball authorities, have become as integral a part of attending a game as hot dogs, crackerjack, and seventh inning stretches." *Id.*

³

The duty analysis includes primary implied assumption of the risk, which arises when the plaintiff impliedly assumes risks that are inherent in a particular activity. *Turner*, 124 Nev. at 220-21, 180 P.3d at 1177. Here, plaintiff watched cheerleaders toss souvenirs to the audience at least six times, and he remained at the premises. Surely he impliedly assumed the risk of the activity, just like the plaintiff in *Turner*.

The court observed that fans "routinely arrive early for batting practice in hopes of retrieving an errant baseball as a souvenir, and fans routinely clamor to retrieve baseballs landing in the stands via home runs or foul balls." *Id.* Although these activities are not technically part of the game, these activities "have become inextricably intertwined with a fan's baseball experience, and must be considered a customary part of the game." *Id.* at 876. "Similarly, both outfielders and infielders routinely toss caught balls to fans at the end of an inning." *Id.*

The *Loughran* court also noted that balls had been tossed to fans by players before the plaintiff's injury. *Id.* The plaintiff had attended baseball games in the past, and he had witnessed balls being tossed into the stands. *Id.* "Even a casual baseball spectator would concede it was not uncommon for a player to toss a memento from the game to nearby fans." Thus, the injuries the plaintiff received "constituted an inherent risk of the game." *Id.* The court concluded that the plaintiff failed to establish that the defendants "deviated from the common and expected practices of the game of baseball." *Id.* at 877.

The case of *Pira v. Sterling Equities, Inc.*, 790 N.Y.S.2d 551 (N.Y. App. Div. 2005) was also cited in the annotation relied upon by *Turner*. The *Pira* plaintiff was struck by a baseball that had been tossed to fans as a souvenir by a pitcher after his pre-game warmup. The fan sued the stadium operator, and the trial court granted summary judgment for the defendant. The appellate court affirmed, noting that "it is not unusual for a player to toss a ball into the stands." *Id.* at 551.

Liability has also been denied in other cases where the injury resulted from the defendant's activity that was not directly part of the game itself. For example, in *Harting v. Dayton Dragons*, 870 N.E.2d 766 (Ohio App. 2007), referenced in the annotation cited in *Turner*, the plaintiff was hit by a baseball. She alleged that her attention was distracted by the antics of a mascot providing entertainment during the

game. The plaintiff argued, in essence, that the stadium should have provided additional safety measures for the fans, because of the intended distraction of the mascot. The appellate court affirmed summary judgment in favor of the defendants, noting that the plaintiff had knowledge of the danger and acquiesced in it. *Id.* at 768.

The plaintiff in *Harting* argued that the mascot's antics created a danger that was not an inherent risk of a baseball game. The court rejected this argument. "This argument ignores the fact that team mascots and their antics are common phenomena and the mascots are normally present during the entire course of the game." *Id.* at 770. In many cases "the team mascots are more popular than the team itself." *Id.* The distraction caused by the mascot did not create liability by increasing the dangers of attending the baseball game. *Id.* The plaintiff understood the risks associated with being a spectator at the baseball game, including her distraction by the antics of the mascot, and liability was therefore precluded. *Id.* at 770-71.

In the present case, plaintiff attended a televised football game at a hotel/casino sports book. He spent more than an hour watching the football game and the cheerleaders. He saw the cheerleaders toss souvenirs to the audience at least six times before the incident in question. He and his wife had a room at another hotel. He could have simply left the Palms if he thought there was even the slightest danger created by souvenirs being tossed to the audience. He perceived no danger, so he stayed to watched the activities. And as he expressly conceded at trial, it was a complete surprise, to him and everyone else, that another patron would jump up from her seat and take a "total body dive" for a souvenir water container that landed on the floor nearby.

Additionally, only one expert witness testified on liability, and his testimony pointed out the obvious: tossing souvenirs to audiences at sporting events and other entertainment venues is a very common, well-accepted activity. 12 App. 2353-54,

59-60, 70-71. In fact, the expert testified that tossing promotional items to an audience is an activity that is done even at the convention of the world's largest organization of security professionals. 12 App. 2353-54.

Plaintiff's counsel elicited testimony that an injury resulting from tossing a souvenir to a crowd is a "foreseeable" risk of the activity. 8 App. 1412:18-20, 1414:2-5. But such a risk is only "foreseeable" in the sense that an injury is theoretically possible. 8 App. 1412:18-20 (it is foreseeable that somebody could "possibly" get injured), 1414:2-5 (foreseeable that somebody "might" be hurt). Injuries are theoretically possible from virtually every activity, and the mere remote possibility of an injury does not create a duty by a premises owner. There is only a duty to safeguard against risks and injuries that are "reasonably foreseeable." *Butler v. Bayer*, 123 Nev. 450, 464, 168 P.3d 1055, 1065 (2007).

Pursuant to NRS 651.015, a hotel owner is not liable for injury to a patron caused by a non-employee of the owner, unless the wrongful act which caused the injury was foreseeable. This statute applies to hotel/casinos. See Estate of Smith v. Mahoney's Silver Nuggett, 127 Nev.____, 265 P.3d 688 (2011). In Smith, a patron was fatally shot by another patron at a casino bar. In a wrongful death action, the district court granted summary judgment for the defendant casino. This court affirmed, applying NRS 651.015, and holding that "foreseeability" requires consideration of "evidence of prior similar acts." *Id.* at ____, 265 P.3d at 690. The shooting in Smith was not foreseeable, primarily because there were no prior similar acts, despite the fact that such a shooting was theoretically possible. *Id.* at ____, 265 P.3d at 691-93.

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