1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA		
2	IN THE SUIREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA		
3			
4	FCH1, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, f/k/a/ FIESTA PALMS, LLC, d/b/a THE PALMS CASINO RESORT District Case No. 243 Feet County		
5	PALMS CASINO RESORT District Creek Aindeman Output District Creek of Supreme Court		
6	Appellant,		
7	vs.		
8	ENRIQUE RODRIGUEZ, {		
9	Respondent.		
10			
11			
12			
13	DECDOMBENE EMPLOYEE DODDICHEZA		
14	RESPONDENT ENRIQUE RODRIGUEZ'		
15	ANSWERING BRIEF		
16			
17			
18			
19			
20	HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, LLC Michael K. Wall (2098) Peccole Professional Park 10080 Alta Drive, Suite 200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 mwall@hutchlegal.com

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

Appellants rely on Ghiorzi v. Whitewater Pools, 2011 WL 5190804 (D. Nev. 2011), an unpublished decision by Judge Peggy A. Leen, Nevada Federal Magistrate, primarily because it involved Dr. Schifini, who also testified in this case. That case is no different from Goodman because, as correctly stated by the Palms in its brief, "Dr. Schifini had received records from the plaintiff's counsel for review, and the doctor was asked to express new opinions following his review of those records" and offered new opinions which "were not formed during the course of treatment of the Plaintiff." AOB at 24. In this case, Enrique's treating physicians expressed no opinions that were formed after their treatment of Enrique ended, or were based on documents provided to them by counsel but were not relied on by them in Enrique's treatment. Instead, they expressed opinions related to "causation, future treatment, extent of disability, and the like," all opinions that have been declared by Nevada Federal Magistrate Judge Robert J. Johnston to be "part of the ordinary care of a patient [to which] a treating physician may testify [] without being subject to the extensive reporting requirements of Rule 26(a)(2)(B)." Eglas v. Colorado Bell Corp., 179 F.R.D.

2526

27

¹²The Palms argued that some of the doctors offered opinions outside their expertise, because for example, the doctors were anesthesiologist, not orthopedic surgeons. But these doctors all provided ample foundation for their expertise and opinions, and the weight to be given to the opinions is left to the trier of fact.

296 (D. Nev. 1998).

The Palms' reliance on *Dozier v. Shapiro*, 199 Cal.App.4th 1509, 133 Cal.Rptr.3d 142 (Cal.App. 2 Dist., 2011), is equally unavailing. There, a treating doctor who was deposed offered additional opinions at trial that had not been expressed at the deposition. The doctor attempted to offer testimony based on documents that were provided to him after he was deposed. These formed no part of his treatment of the patient. *Id.* at 1514. Obviously, the concerns in such a case are foreign to the issues presented here. The Palms never deposed Enrique's treating physicians, and they never testified to documents provided to them by counsel that were unrelated to treatment.

The Palms next argues and cites a number of cases for the proposition that one doctor may not testify as to the opinions of another if the opinion of the other doctor is not admissible. In the words of the Palms, one doctor cannot become the conduit to introduce statements of non-testifying individuals. AOB at 30. The Palms relies for this argument on *Estes v. State*, 122 Nev. 1123, 1141, 146 P.3d 1114, 1126 (2006), a criminal case of doubtful application. The entirety of this Court's discussion in *Estes*, on this subject was:

We conclude that Dr. Neighbors' testimony as to the opinions of other doctors was likely erroneous, in that such testimony constituted inadmissible hearsay. NRS 50.285, however, allows experts to base their opinions on facts or data that are otherwise inadmissible, if such information is of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in that field. Thus, Dr. Neighbors' reasonable reliance upon the opinions of her colleagues in forming her own diagnosis was marginally appropriate.

There is no indication in this case that any of the evidence that came in through any of Enrique's treating physicians was inadmissable as hearsay or for any other reason; each treating expert testified only to his or her interpretation of medical records as those informed his or her treatment of Enrique. This argument is a red herring, because the Palms has not identified a single instance of a doctor in this case testifying to the opinions of a non-testifying doctor, nor

has the Palms identified any inadmissible evidence that was introduced circuitously through a testifying doctor. Careful examination of the record in this case reveals why the Palms has not identified any such specific improper testimony. Each testifying doctor testified to his or her own opinions only, and referred to the conclusions of other doctors as reflected in their medical records only as relevant to explaining their own treatments, diagnosis and medical opinions.

In *Ramirez v. State*, 114 Nev. 550, 958 P.2d 724 (1998), another case relied on by the Palms, a police officer testified to the alleged statement of a doctor that was clearly hearsay and was not arguably subject to any exception to the hearsay rule. The district court then exacerbated the situation by giving the jury an improper instruction about that hearsay statement. The issue was whether these facts created a confrontation clause violation, and they obviously did. Any application of this holding to this case is dubious, at best.

Similarly, the foreign case law relied on by the Palms is unavailing. In *People v. Campos*, 32 Cal.App.4th 304, 38 Cal.Rptr.2d 113 (Cal.App. 1995), a criminal case, an expert witness revealed the content of a report prepared by nontestifying experts. The concerns arose under the confrontation clause, which is not relevant here. Further, in this case, no one revealed the contents of an expert report or expert opinion expressed by a non-testifying expert. Instead, Enrique's treating physicians were questioned regarding the medical records of other treating physicians, and explained their own conclusions, treatments and opinions based on their reliance on those medical records.

In *McCathern v. Toyota Motor Corp.*, 23 P.3d 320, 327 (Or. 2001), the court noted that inadmissible evidence does not become admissible simply because it is relied on by an expert. Nevertheless, the appellate court held that the trial court did not err in admitting evidence through an expert that otherwise would have been hearsay).

U.S. v. Tran Trong Cuong, 18 F.3d 1132 (4th Cir. 1994), was a criminal prosecution of a doctor for improper prescription of certain drugs. An expert doctor (not a treating doctor) was allowed to testify that the opinions of another, non-testifying doctor regarding whether the prescriptions were proper were the same as his. Neither doctor, the one whose testimony was considered improper nor the one who did not testify, was a treating physician. Both doctors had conducted extensive examination of the records of many patients to determine whether the defendant was improperly prescribing medication, not for the purpose of treatment of any patient. They had also reviewed many other records and documents from the grand jury investigation that had nothing to do with medical treatment. The non-testifying doctor had prepared a report that was hearsay and was not admissible in evidence for that and other reasons. By referring to and relating the contents of the inadmissible report, the second doctor brought inadmissible evidence before the jury. Further, the testifying doctor was allowed to bolster his own opinion by testifying that the non-testifying doctor was a general surgeon, a close friend of his, a lawyer, well thought of in the medical community, and the president of the medical society. Id. 1135. How the holding that this testimony was improper in the criminal context in which it was given is relevant to any of the testimony given by the treating physicians in this case is a mystery.

In Whitfield v. Roth, 10 Cal.3d 874, 519 P.2d 588 (Cal. 1974), years after relevant x-rays were taken and in anticipation of testifying as an expert at trial, one doctor showed the x-rays to two other doctors, and another named expert doctor allegedly discussed the x-rays and possibly showed them to a bunch of "students, staff and faculty doctors," estimated at in excess of fifty, at a school where the doctor worked, and none allegedly found the x-rays to be abnormal. Allowing this kind of hearsay to bolster the expert doctor's opinions was obvious error, albeit harmless error in the estimation of the California Supreme Court.

This is not arguably similar to this case.

Thus, the case law relied on by the Palms does not support its arguments.

III. Sufficient Evidence Supports Enrique's Claim of Lost Future Earning Capacity.

The Palms complains that the evidence of Enrique's lost future earning capacity was speculative. The Palms argues that because Enrique's income is derived from buying and selling real property, there should be some sort of presumption against Enrique. The Palms relies on two cases where professionals failed to prove that their injuries translated into a diminution of earning capacity.

In *Nobile v. New Orleans Public Service, Inc.*, 419 So.2d 35, (La. App. 1882), the trial court as trier of fact concluded that an architect who claimed his injuries from an automobile accident resulted in a diminution in his earning capacity had failed to prove his lost income, and the appellate court affirmed. In *Strauss v. Continental Airlines, Inc.*, 67 S.W.3d 428 (Tex.App., 2002), a jury denied any recovery to a lawyer for future loss of income but awarded a substantial amount for past loss. The trial court granted a JNOV, concluding the lawyer had presented no evidence that he was incapable of working or did not work in the past, but instead based his claim on speculation that he could have found more work if he had not been injured. The appellate court upheld the district court's evidentiary finding. *Id.* at 434. Both cases stand for the proposition that the evidence must be sufficient to support the verdict.

Enrique believes this Court will find ample evidence in the record to support his claim of lost ability to earn income in the future. Each of his doctors testified that he was disabled and incapable of working, and he and his girl friend (life-partner) both testified that he cannot do the work he did in the past.

Indeed, the Palms has not challenged Enrique's disability (making *Strauss* and *Nobile* irrelevant), but instead challenges the sufficiency of the expert evidence to establish a basis for the district court's award. The Palms speculates

that Enrique had income records he did not produce—("he presumably had business records showing the number of homes he bought and sold each year" AOB at 36)—and complains that Enrique's expert, Mr. Dinneen, relied on income tax returns it considers to be insufficient. The Palms further speculates, because Mr. Dinneen testified that he would have requested certain documents and did not receive them, that Enrique withheld documents. But the correct inference is that Enrique did not have the documents because, as he testified, he spent his life after high school working for himself in buying and selling properties.

If there was a discovery dispute, the Palms should have pursued it pretrial. If any requests for information from the Palms went unanswered, the Palms should have moved to compel. What the Palms should not be allowed to do is to speculate on appeal that other documents must have existed and that Enrique should have provided them to his expert. The issue in this case is whether the expert's testimony regarding Enrique's loss of future earning capacity, combined with the overwhelming evidence of Enrique's disability, is sufficient to support the district court's verdict. *See Gibellini v. Klindt*, 110 Nev. 1201, 1204, 885 P.2d 540, 542 (1994) ("A district court's findings will not be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous and are not based on substantial evidence."). Enrique submits the testimony is more than sufficient to support the verdict.

IV. The District Court Did Not Err in Striking Appellant's Experts.

The Palms complains that the district court erred in striking the testimony of two of his experts. The Palms admits that neither expert expressed any opinion to a reasonable degree of professional probability, but argues that there are cases where a defense expert need not express an opinion to that standard.

As previously stated, Mr. Franklin's expert testimony can be summed up in the statement that he believes throwing items into a crowd is never dangerous anywhere under any condition. 12 App. 2353-54. The basis for this testimony is that he has been to many events where items were thrown. He conducted no tests, did no scientific analysis and had no basis for expressing a legal opinion. *Id.* The testimony of Franklin was questionable at best.

Franklin did not testify, as the Palms suggests, to causation, to reasonable alternative causation theories, to contradict a plaintiff's expert, or to controvert a key element of Enrique's *prima facie* case. Thus, the Palms' reliance on *Brown v. Capanna*, 105 Nev 665, 782 P.2d 1299 (1989), and *Williams v. District Court*, 127 Nev. ____, 262 P.3d 360 (2011), allowing defense experts to offer opinions on these matters without doing so to a reasonable degree of professional probability, is misplaced.

Franklin testified he has seen things thrown in the past so it must be OK, but he did not express any opinion on any subject to any degree of probability. He did not even visit the location where the accident happened or base any opinion on anything specific to a casino crowd in a prize scrambling setting. 12 App. 2353. He simply opined based on his experience at sports venues and conferences that throwing objects into a crowd, any crowd, is fine. With no basis to present a legal conclusion and no statement to any particular degree of probability as to any fact necessary for the district court to determine a legal standard of care, the testimony was not helpful to the district court and was properly stricken. *Hallmark v. Eldridge*, 124 Nev. 492, 189 P.3d 646 (2008) (to be admissible, expert testimony must be sufficiently reliable and scientifically based so that it will assist the trier of fact).

With respect to Dr. Thomas Cargill, the Palms' expert economist, the Palms asserts in the opening brief that he "used his expertise to calculate what plaintiff would have earned had he continued to work after the accident." AOB 39. Dr. Cargill did no such thing, either at trial or in his expert report. 15

App. 3009 and following.¹³ The opening brief states that Dr. Cargill testified without objection that it was not appropriate for Mr. Dinneen to average Enrique's earnings over the years 1999 to 2004 to calculate future income loss in light of the collapse in the economy. AOB 39. Dr. Cargill did so testify, but he also admitted that Mr. Dinneen did not average the income over that period, and he was mistaken at the time he did his report. 15 App. 3026. The opening brief states that Dr. Cargill "testified extensively regarding the correct interest rates," but all Dr. Cargill testified to with respect to interest rates is that they are irrelevant to any future loss of income calculation. 15 App. 3056-59.

Dr. Cargill's testimony was limited to the effect the market crash had on Enrique's future income, and was general in nature. Dr. Cargill repeatedly attempted to offer testimony that Enrique had not provided sufficient documentation from which to calculate lost income and that it was improper to average income from the tax returns provided, but repeated objections to this testimony were sustained by the district court because Dr. Cargill did not opine on these subjects in his report. 15 App. 3019 through 3036. Now on appeal the Palms relies exclusively with regard to Dr. Cargill on the testimony that was excluded at trial, not on any testimony that was excluded after trial based on Enrique's motion to strike. AOB 39.

In its order striking Dr. Cargill, the district court noted that Dr. Cargill testified as to two things: that Enrique would have made less money in the current financial market than back in 2004 and that the discount rates used by Enrique's expert were inappropriate. 2 App. 270. To express opinions on the market and on the correct method of calculating lost income, Dr. Cargill had to do so to a reasonable degree of professional probability. *Hallmark v. Eldridge*,

¹³The report is not contained in the appendix, but it is apparent from the testimony given at trial that Dr. Cargill did not offer an opinion as to the amount of Enrique's lost income capacity.

124 Nev. 492, 189 P.3d 646 (2008). This he did not do, failing the assistance requirement of NRS 50.275.

1

2

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